No. S274743

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

FRANCISCO BURGOS, ET AL.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045212 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case Nos. C1518795, C1756994 The Honorable Cynthia A. Sevely, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does the provision of Penal Code section 1109 governing the bifurcation of gang enhancements from the substantive offense or offenses apply retroactively to cases that are not yet final?

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal majority held that newly enacted Penal Code section 1109—which requires trial courts to conduct bifurcated trials on the truth of a gang enhancement alleged under Penal Code section 186.22, subdivisions (b) or (d), if requested by the defense (Pen. Code, § 1109, subd. (a))¹—operates retroactively under the rule of *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740. That holding extends the *Estrada* rule far beyond what this Court's decisions have sanctioned and, indeed, farther than *Estrada*'s rationale can support.

When, as here, the Legislature is silent on the question of retroactivity, a default rule of prospectivity generally applies. (§ 3.) *Estrada* recognizes, however, that the default statutory rule of prospectivity can be overcome where a new enactment ameliorates punishment in such a way as to give rise to the inevitable inference that the new, lower penalty must have been intended to apply retroactively. Section 1109 is not that kind of change in the law. Rather, it is a procedural rule governing the conduct of trial. The new bifurcation rule is aimed at alleviating "unfair prejudice in juries and convictions of innocent people."

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

(Assem. Bill No. 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) § 2, subds. (d)(6), (f);Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subds. (d)(6), (f).) But it does not implicate a judgment about proper punishment that would compel *Estrada*'s presumption of retroactivity.

The Court of Appeal majority below incorrectly understood the *Estrada* rule as applying to any new legislation that provides a "possible benefit" to criminal defendants. (Opn. 16-17.) As the dissent properly observed, however, that approach "expand[s] the *Estrada* rule beyond its rationale [and] would permit the exception to swallow the general rule of nonretroactivity." (Dis. Opn. 7.) Assuring a fair trial is implicit in virtually every rule of evidence and trial procedure, and augmentation of such protections may always be said to provide some benefit to criminal defendants. The holding below would therefore represent a significant expansion of the *Estrada* rule, placing a concomitant burden on the courts to implement new rules governing trial procedure in all nonfinal cases.

To be sure, the Legislature is free to say whether any particular enactment, including one involving a rule of trial procedure like section 1109, is meant to apply retroactively. And the Legislature could even choose as a matter of policy to amend section 3's default rule of prospectivity. Given that it has not done so, however, departure from that express statutory rule is justified only where, as this Court has stated, the inference described in *Estrada* is clear and unavoidable: that the change in law reflects a judgment about proper punishment, which the Legislature could have had no legitimate reason for withholding

from nonfinal cases. A bifurcation requirement like that established by section 1109 does not support such an inference, and the Court of Appeal majority's more expansive view cannot be squared with section 3 or the logic of *Estrada*.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

To combat criminal activity by street gangs, the Legislature in 1988 enacted the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act. (STEP Act; § 186.20 et seq.) "Among other things, the STEP Act created a sentencing enhancement for a felony committed 'for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang' (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1))." (People v. Tran (2022) 13 Cal.5th 1169, 1205-1206, some citations and internal quotation marks omitted.) The STEP Act also added, in section 186.22, subdivision (a), "a particular offense to which only gang members are subject" and which requires, among other things, "that the defendant 'actively participates in any criminal street gang." (People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, 1109.)

In 2021, the Legislature passed Assembly Bill 333, which became effective on January 1, 2022. The bill made changes to the law on gang enhancements, including narrowing the definition of a criminal street gang and limiting what constitutes conduct that benefits the gang. (See *Tran*, *supra*, 13 Cal.5th at p. 1206; see Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3.)

Assembly Bill 333 also added section 1109 (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 5), "which requires, if requested by the defendant, a gang enhancement charge to be tried separately from all other counts

that do not otherwise require gang evidence as an element of the crime. If the proceedings are bifurcated, the truth of the gang enhancement may be determined only after a trier of fact finds the defendant guilty of the underlying offense." (*Tran, supra,* 13 Cal.5th at p. 1206.) Section 1109 states:

- (a) If requested by the defense, a case in which a gang enhancement is charged under subdivision (b) or (d) of Section 186.22 shall be tried in separate phases as follows:
- (1) The question of the defendant's guilt of the underlying offense shall be first determined.
- (2) If the defendant is found guilty of the underlying offense and there is an allegation of an enhancement under subdivision (b) or (d) of Section 186.22, there shall be further proceedings to the trier of fact on the question of the truth of the enhancement. Allegations that the underlying offense was committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal street gang and that the underlying offense was committed with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in criminal conduct by gang members shall be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence.
- (b) If a defendant is charged with a violation of subdivision (a) of Section 186.22, this count shall be tried separately from all other counts that do not otherwise require gang evidence as an element of the crime. This charge may be tried in the same proceeding with an allegation of an enhancement under subdivision (b) or (d) of Section 186.22.

 $(\S 1109.)^2$

² Not every provision in section 186.22 is an enhancement. (*People v. Brookfield* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 583, 592 [the Court's cases (continued...)

Whether new criminal legislation like Assembly Bill 333 applies prospectively or retroactively is a matter of statutory interpretation. (*Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 744; see also *People v. Brown* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 319; Scalia & Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts (2012) p. 262.) "When the Legislature has not made its intent on the matter clear with respect to a particular statute, the Legislature's generally applicable declaration in section 3 provides the default rule" (*Brown*, at p. 319.) That section, a part of the Penal Code since 1872, provides, "No part of it is retroactive, unless expressly so declared." (See generally *Evangelatos v. Superior Court* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1188, 1207; see also 2 Sutherland, Statutory Construction (8th ed.) § 41:2 ["Courts ordinarily presume that statutes operate prospectively"].)

(...continued)

have "drawn a distinction between penalty provisions and sentence enhancements" when "construing various subdivisions of section 186.22"].) The effect of the Legislature's choosing to use "enhancement" after Brookfield and the cases it discussed is outside the scope of the issue presented. (Cf. id. at pp. 592-593) [identifying circumstances in which Court might infer "that the Legislature was aware of the distinction this court has drawn between the sentence enhancements and the penalty provisions set forth in section 186.22, and that the Legislature intended the word 'enhancement' . . . to have the narrow meaning articulated by this court"].) Bifurcation of the trial of gang enhancement allegations is covered by section 1109, subdivision (a), and bifurcation of the trial of the crime of participating in a gang in violation of section 186.22, subdivision (a) is governed by section 1109, subdivision (b). In accord with the issue presented, the People refer to section 1109 as applying in both contexts.

Section 3's default rule can be overcome, however, when the ameliorative nature of new legislation compels a contrary inference as to retroactivity. As this Court explained in *Estrada*, "When the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment it has obviously expressly determined that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as punishment for the commission of the prohibited act. It is an inevitable inference that the Legislature must have intended that the new statute imposing the new lighter penalty now deemed to be sufficient should apply to every case to which it constitutionally could apply." (Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d at p. 745.) Estrada reasoned, "A legislative mitigation of the penalty for a particular crime represents a legislative judgment that the lesser penalty or the different treatment is sufficient to meet the legitimate ends of the criminal law. Nothing is to be gained by imposing the more severe penalty after such a pronouncement; the excess in punishment can, by hypothesis, serve no purpose other than to satisfy a desire for vengeance. As to a mitigation of penalties, then, it is safe to assume, as the modern rule does, that it was the legislative design that the lighter penalty should be imposed in all cases that subsequently reach the courts." (Id. at pp. 745-746.)

When legislation is ameliorative in the way *Estrada* described, then, "in order to rebut *Estrada*'s inference of retroactivity concerning ameliorative statutes, the Legislature must demonstrate its intention with sufficient clarity that a reviewing court can discern and effectuate it." (*People v. Frahs*

(2020) 9 Cal.5th 618, 634.)³ Accordingly, when an amendment to the criminal law is silent on retroactivity, the question of legislative intent as to that question may hinge initially on whether the amendment "constitutes an ameliorative change within the meaning of *Estrada*." (*People v. Stamps* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 685, 699; see *People v. Esquivel* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 671, 675-676 [identifying different aspects of the *Estrada* rule that this Court's cases have addressed].) This Court has suggested that making that determination is informed by whether a change to the law is "analogous to the *Estrada* situation" such that "*Estrada*'s logic" applies. (*Lara*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 312.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The trial

In March 2016 the Santa Clara County District Attorney filed an information charging appellants Francisco Burgos, Damon Stevenson, and James Richardson, along with

and "presumption," when referring to the principle identified in *Estrada*. (E.g., *People v. Superior Court (Lara)* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 308, fn. 5 [the Court has "occasionally referred to *Estrada* as reflecting a 'presumption.' [Citations.] We meant this to convey that ordinarily it is reasonable to infer for purposes of statutory construction the Legislature intended a reduction in punishment to apply retroactively"].) Both "inference" and "presumption" appear apt given that the "inevitable inference" identified in *Estrada* operates much like a presumption (Evid. Code, § 600, subd. (a) ["A presumption is an assumption of fact that the law requires to be made from another fact or group of facts found or otherwise established in the action"].) This brief does not favor one term over the other.

codefendants Derrick Lozano and Gregory Byrd, with two counts each of second degree robbery (§§ 211, 212.5, subd. (c)). The information included gang enhancement allegations as to each defendant (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)) and further alleged that a principle in the commission of the crime personally used a firearm (§ 12022.53, subds. (b) & (e)(1)). (1CT 14-17.) Lozano pleaded guilty prior to trial. (3CT 782-789; 5CT 1396-1401.)

The trial evidence showed that, in August 2015, a group of men that included Burgos, Stevenson, and Richardson left a San Jose apartment complex and went to a nearby 7-Eleven. (24RT 6912-6913, 6915; 29RT 8424, 8436-8437, 8456; 42RT 12316, 12340, 12342, 12346; 44RT 12963-12964.) As the men walked away from the store, they encountered Gabriel Cortez and Danny Rodriguez. (4CT 1128-1131, 1134, 1146, 1174-1176; 21RT 6024-6025; 22RT 6369; 23RT 6631.) One of the group asked Rodriguez and Cortez whether they were from "Meadowfair," and announced that he and his group were "Crips." (4CT 1129-1130, 1174-1175, 1185; 21RT 6042, 6045; 22RT 6354; see 28RT 8175-8176.) The men took Cortez's and Rodriguez's wallets and cell phones at gunpoint. (4CT 1130-1131, 1177-1178, 1185-1186.) One of the robbers told Rodriguez and Cortez that they had 30 seconds to leave or he would shoot them. (4CT 1131, 1195-1196; 21RT 6045; 28RT 8176.) Rodriguez and Cortez ran. (21RT 6046; 22RT 6362.)

Police found appellants and some of the stolen property in an apartment at the complex two hours later. (24RT 6950-6951, 6955-6958, 6960-6961; 25RT 7233-7234; 26RT 7513-7514; 28RT

8136, 8141.) Cortez identified Burgos, Stevenson, and Richardson as among the robbers during an in-field show-up. (4CT 1176-1183; 28RT 8148-8151, 8153-8154.) Rodriguez viewed Stevenson and Burgos but was uncertain about their involvement, and he told police that Richardson was not among the perpetrators. (4 CT 1165; 28RT 8138-8139; 32RT 9310, 9373.)

In addition to evidence that appellants acted in concert to commit the robberies, the prosecution presented evidence, through an expert witness, that the crimes were committed in association with a criminal street gang to facilitate the gang's criminal activities. (36RT 10547-10550.) According to the expert, Crip gangs in San Jose were criminal street gangs whose members engage in a pattern of criminal activity. (34RT 9949-9950.) The primary activities of Crip gangs in San Jose included the commission of robbery, felony assault, and illegal weapon possession. (35RT 10214.) A Crip gang claimed territory in the area where the robberies took place. (36RT 10526.) Varrio Meadowfair, a Norteño criminal street gang, was also active in the area. (32RT 9332-9333; 34RT 9979-9980.) Crips and Norteños might have been rivals in San Jose, and "Crips will prey on people who are non-Crips." (34RT 9955.) To achieve status ("the currency of the streets") among Crips, one had to "victimize the community in multiple ways." (34RT 9957.) Crip members contributed to the gang by committing robbery and other criminal acts. (34RT 9961-9962.)

The expert further explained that announcing Crip affiliation in the course of criminal activity signaled that the activity fell "under the [gang] banner." (34RT 9957.) Asking a potential victim, "Do you bang?" or, "Where are you from?" often preceded a gang-related assault. (34RT 9958; 36RT 10551-10552.) "It's basically you're checking the individual because you deem them to either be a target, a rival, and you're either going to hurt them, rob them, or threaten them in some way to show you are controlling the territory." (34RT 9958.) The expert opined that robberies such as those committed in this case would have been perpetrated at the direction, and for the benefit, of the Crip gang. (36RT 10552-10553.)

In addition, to support the "pattern of criminal gang activity" requirement of the gang enhancement statute (§ 186.22, subd. (e)), the prosecution introduced certified records of convictions relating to four prior offenses committed by Crip gang members. (6CT 1524-1534, 1643-1673; 35RT 10307-10311, 10314-10315.)

The jury convicted appellants of the robberies, found true the gang enhancement allegations, and deadlocked on the firearm use allegations. (7CT 1984, 1986, 1987, 1989, 1991, 1993, 1994, 1996, 1997, 1999, 2000, 2002, 2006; 50RT 14703.) The jury acquitted Byrd. (7CT 2006; 6 Augmented RT 317-318.)

The court sentenced each appellant to 21 years in state prison. (8CT 2307-2312 [abstracts of judgment]; 51RT 15022 [Stevenson], 15042 [Burgos], 15063 [Richardson].)

B. The Court of Appeal's decision

On appeal, appellants asserted that the amendments to section 186.22 and the enactment of section 1109, both made by Assembly Bill 333 after trial, are ameliorative changes that should apply retroactively to their nonfinal cases under *Estrada*. (Opn. 1, 14.) The People agreed that the amendments to section 186.22 are ameliorative within the meaning of *Estrada* and therefore retroactive, but maintained that section 1109 operates prospectively because it is a "prophylactic rule of criminal procedure' designed to enhance the fairness of proceedings, not to ameliorate punishment as defined under *Estrada*." (Opn. 13, 14, 17.)

The Court of Appeal reversed. It unanimously agreed that the changes to section 186.22 apply retroactively to nonfinal cases, requiring reversal of the gang enhancements in this case. (Opn. 13; Dis. Opn. 6.)

In addition, a majority of the court rejected the People's argument as to section 1109, holding that it is an ameliorative change to the law that must be applied retroactively under *Estrada*. (Opn. 17-19.) The majority reasoned that the statute provides a possible benefit to a class of defendants charged with gang enhancements under subdivisions (b) or (d) of section 186.22 in two ways. First, there is an increased possibility of acquittal "absent the prejudicial impact of gang evidence." (Opn. 18.) Second, defendants "charged" with a gang enhancement will feel less "pressure to accept longer sentences" as part of a plea bargain because they will know that their trials will not be "filled with prejudicial evidence." (Opn. 16, 18.) And "[b]y reducing the

pressure to accept longer sentences, the new bifurcation statute will necessarily reduce the degree of punishment" (Opn. 18.) The Court of Appeal majority also reasoned that, because part of the session law that created section 1109 (Stats. 2021, ch. 699) retroactively amended the proof requirements in section 186.22 for gang enhancement allegations, the Legislature must have intended all of the session law's components to operate retroactively. (Opn. 18.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal majority held that the change in law required reversal even under the standard for state law error articulated in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836, reasoning that "it is likely the jury relied on evidence of appellants' gang membership in considering the identity issues" raised at trial. (Opn. 20-21.)⁴

Justice Elia dissented. He concluded that section 1109 operates prospectively: "While section 1109 clearly applies to a class of defendants, those facing gang enhancement allegations, and was intended to promote fairness and reduce the potential for prejudice, the same could be said for virtually any procedural change, and the bifurcation provisions themselves do not reduce punishment or create the possibility of reduced punishment."

⁴ The Court of Appeal majority began its analysis by asserting that the absence of a bifurcated trial "likely constitutes 'structural error' because it 'defies analysis by harmless-error standards." (Opn. 19, alteration omitted.) That possibility has since been rejected by this Court, which recently held that any error under section 1109 is reviewed under the *Watson* standard. (*Tran*, *supra*, 13 Cal.5th at p. 1209.)

(Dis. Opn. 5.) Justice Elia criticized the majority's disregard for the statutory presumption that amendments to the Penal Code have exclusively proactive application and its "unsupported" refusal to "separately analyze the retroactivity of each amendatory statute contained in a single legislative bill." (Dis. Opn. 6-7.) He concluded that "[t]he majority opinion's attempt to expand the *Estrada* rule beyond its rationale would permit the exception to swallow the general rule of nonretroactivity." (Dis. Opn. 7.)⁵

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 1109 IS NOT RETROACTIVE UNDER THE ESTRADA RULE

The new mandate in section 1109 to bifurcate the trial of a gang enhancement allegation on the defendant's request is not an

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