IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, No. S274743

Sixth District Court of Appeal No. H045212

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

Santa Clara Co. Superior Court No. C1518795

FRANCISCO <u>BURGOS</u> et al.,

Defendant and Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H04512

On Appeal from the Superior Court of California Santa Clara County No. C1518795 The Honorable Cynthia Severly, Presiding

APPELLANT FRANCISCO BURGOS'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Jurists have disagreed on the legislative intent to ascribed to the fiscal report. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Montano* pointed out that a sentence in the *Burgos* dissent – asserting that the fiscal report provided an indication of prospective application intent (*Burgos, supra,* 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 571 (dis. opn., Elia,

J.)) — was not evident:

But what the Appropriations Committee said was that the fiscal impact of Assembly Bill 333 is unknown and difficult to predict. (Sen. Com. on Appropriations, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 333, *supra*, at pp. 1, 3.) Although section 1109 may increase "workload costs to the courts" (*id.*, at p. 3), it could also produce 'cost savings to [the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation] if it results in some individuals serving a shorter (or no) term of imprisonment' (*id.*, at p. 4). This is not a clear indication of the Legislature's intent for prospectiveonly application.

(Montano, supra, 80 Cal.App.5th at p. 108, citation omitted.)

Irrespective of any fiscal analysis or conclusion, the report's examples of individuals being released early from prison demonstrate a legislative intent to apply the statute retroactively.

G. Pairing the Bifurcation Provision with Clearly Retroactive Provisions Demonstrates Retroactive Intent.

The bifurcation provision began its legislative journey a year prior as a solo, standalone provision as proposed in Senate Bill No. 516 (SB 516). (Proposed Sen. Bill No. 516 (Reg. Sess. 2019–2020) [viewable online at

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id =201920200SB516 [as of Feb. 6, 2023].) It was substantively different in that it required mandatory bifurcation of gang evidence without request. The bill proposed adding a new Evidence Code and stated in pertinent part:

A case in which a gang enhancement is charged under Section 186.22 of the Penal Code shall be tried in separate phases as follows:

(a) The question of the defendant's guilt shall be first determined(b) If the defendant is found guilty of the crime

charged and there is an allegation of an enhancement

under Section 186.22 of the Penal Code, there shall thereupon be further proceedings to the trier of fact on the question of the truth of the enhancement. Evidence of the gang enhancement shall be bifurcated from the trial on the underlying offense. [¶]

(*Ibid.*) During committee review, the Senate Committee on Public Safety described statistical evidence showing a greater likelihood of conviction when gang evidence is introduced. (Sen. Comm. on Public Saf. Rep. on SB 516 (Reg. Sess. 2019–2020), version March 25, 2019, viewable online at

<<u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?</u> <u>bill_id=201920200SB516</u>> [as of Feb. 1, 2023, see sub-link dated April 22, 2019] (one study showed that when gang evidence was introduced to the jury, guilty verdicts increased almost three to one).¹¹)

SB 516 was held behind AB 333. (See Sen. Comm. on Appropriations, Rep. on AB 333 version July 13, 2021 (Reg. Sess. 2021–2022), p. 3, viewable online at

<<u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?</u> <u>bill_id=202120220AB333</u>> [as of Jan. 31, 2023, see sub-link dated Aug. 13, 2021], citing SB 516.) The Legislature's decision, to abandon a mandatory bifurcation provision in the form of a new Evidence Code in favor of a defense-request version in the form of a new Penal Code and part of a bill narrowing the gang

¹¹ Although the report fails to identify these studies by name, it is likely the work of Dr. Eisen and his colleagues that has been previously discussed in § D, *ante*.

enhancement statute, is part of its stated intent to radically alter the problematic gang enhancement statute it identified as creating racially systemic problems. (AB 333, § 1.) The Legislature could have easily amended the provisions of proposed SB 516 to reflect the language in section 1109, and passed SB 516 on its own, but it did not. The Legislature could have included a prospective-only date for section 1109, as it had when it passed a different ameliorative sentencing statute during the same legislative term, but it did not.¹² There has been no dispute that the portions of AB 333 which change the gang enhancement's applicability and manner of proof applies retroactively to nonfinal cases, and the Legislature would have properly predicted this. By including the bifurcation provision as part of a law that the Legislature knew would be applied retroactively, it signaled its intention to have the bifurcation portion of the statute apply retroactively as well.

The *Burgos* majority noted that section 1109 appeared with the amendments to the gang statute, and properly rejected respondent's position that it should be treated in isolation or as a procedural rule:

[W]e reject the argument that different parts of Assembly Bill 333 should be treated differently under *Estrada*. The Legislature could have added an express savings clause carving out a section of the bill as prospective-only, but there is no such clause, and no indication of any such intent. To the contrary, the

 $^{^{12}}$ See Sen. Bill No. 81 (2021–2022 Reg. Sess.) [amending § 1385, subd. (c)(7)] ["[t]his subdivision shall apply to sentencings occurring after the effective date of the act that added this subdivision"].)

legislative findings setting forth the ameliorative purposes of the bill apply to the entire bill, and they specifically address the reasons for the new bifurcation rules.

(Burgos, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 567.¹³) It reiterated this Court's observation in *Frahs*, that had the Legislature not wanted the statute to apply retroactively it would have needed to clearly and directly indicate such an intent. (*Ibid.*, citing *Frahs*, *supra*, 9 Cal.5th at pp. 634–635.) "This admonition carries even greater weight here. It would be especially incongruous for the Legislature to make one isolated section of a bill prospective-only without stating so expressly, expecting instead that a court would somehow discern this anomaly." (*Burgos, supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 567–568.)

Burgos's dissent, and now respondent here, criticize the majority's approach, pointing out there is no authority requiring *Estrada* to be applied uniformly to a law, and that *Estrada's* analysis only depends on whether a particular provision is ameliorative. (*Burgos, supra,* 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 573 & fn. 2 (dis. opn. of Elia, J.); RBM, pp. 47–49.) But the majority properly considered the Legislature's findings as applicable to all features of the bill in concluding the Legislature intended to apply the bifurcation provision retroactively. The issue is not whether it is permissible to treat one portion of a bill differently from another, but to determine whether the Legislature intended to apply the provision of the law prospectively, notwithstanding the fact that

¹³ The parties never brought proposed SB 516 to the attention of the court below.

other portions of the bill indisputably would be applied retroactively. Here, the fact that the earlier bifurcation provision in proposed SB 516 was held behind AB 333 shows that the Legislature intended the bifurcation provision to be applied retroactively, along with the bill's other components.

H. Section 1109 is Part of the Legislature's Effort to Combat Racial Disparity.

As a concluding observation, AB 333's legislative findings should be viewed in a larger historical context, as part and parcel of the Legislature's mission to eradicate systemic racial bias not just prospectively, but – where possible – retroactively as well. In the session prior to AB 333, the Legislature passed the Racial Justice Act of 2020 (RJA). (Stats. 2020, ch. 317 (Assem. Bill No. 2542).) In the RJA, the Legislature sternly pointed out that "[e]xamples of the racism that pervades the criminal justice system are too numerous to list," and warned that "we can no longer accept racial discrimination and racial disparities as inevitable in our criminal justice system and we must act to make clear that this discrimination and these disparities are illegal and will not be tolerated in California, both prospectively and retroactively." (Stats. 2020, ch. 317, § 2, subds. (h), (g), italics added, amended by Stats. 2022, ch. 739 (Assem. Bill No. 256) [eliminating prospective language and adding rolling effective dates to final cases, see subd. (j)].) The Legislature's findings cited Justice Sotomayor's observation that "[t]he way to stop discrimination on the basis of race is to speak openly and candidly on the subject of race, and to apply the Constitution

41

with eyes open to the unfortunate effects of centuries of racial discrimination." (Stats. 2020, ch. 317, *supra*, § 2, subd. (b), quoting *Schuette v. Coalition to Defend Affirmative Action* (2014) 572 U.S. 291, 380–381 (dis. opn. of Sotomayor, J.).) Our Legislature continued to state: "[w]e cannot simply accept the stark reality that race pervades our system of justice. Rather, we must acknowledge and seek to remedy that reality and create a fair system of justice that upholds our democratic ideals." (*Ibid*.)

In line with the RJA, the Legislature has enacted a number of specific reforms to address the racial disparities. It changed the operations of jury selection, acknowledging that the prior standard of proving purposeful discrimination was too difficult and provided remedies for "both conscious and unconscious bias in the use of peremptory challenges." (Stats. 2020, ch. 318 [adding Code of Civ. Proc., § 231.7].) It abrogated qualifying prison prior enhancements imposed pursuant to section 667.5, subdivision (b) to address racial disparities in sentencing. (Sen. Bill. No. 483, § 3 (2021–2022 Reg. Sess.) [adding former § 11701.1, subd. (a), now renumbered as § 1172.75].) It gave judges new discretion to dismiss prior serious felony and weapon enhancements. (Stats. 2018, ch. 1013, § 1 (Sen. Bill No. 1393); §§ 12022.5, subd. (c), 12022.53, subd. (h), as amended by Stats. 2017, ch. 682, § 2 (Sen. Bill 620).) It passed protections against the racial bias from the use of creative expression evidence. (Stats. 2022, ch. 973, § 2 [adding Evid. Code, § 352.2]; see also section V, C, i, post.)

42

AB 333 must be viewed as part of the Legislature's determined plan to reduce systemic racial biases that adversely impact persons of color and marginalized communities. More than six of AB 333's legislative findings specifically relate to the disproportionate impact the gang enhancement has on people of color. (See AB 333, § 2, subds. (a), (b), (d)(1), (d)(2), (d)(4), (d)(10).) Against the backdrop of a recent legislative history showing the Legislature's clear intent to provide extensive and expansive remedial legislation, this Court should read AB 333's legislative findings as an expression of legislative intent to apply section 1109's ameliorative benefits to as broad a group as constitutionally permissible, including those whose cases are nonfinal on appeal.

II. The Statute Must Be Applied Retroactively to Comply with Equal Protection.

Even when the Legislature expressly intends an ameliorative provision to apply prospectively, constitutional considerations may require that it be applied retroactively. (*In re Chavez, supra,* 114 Cal.App.4th at p. 1000.) The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 7 of the California Constitution guarantee to each citizen the equal protection of the laws. (U.S. Const., 14th Amend.; Cal. Const., art. I, § 7.) A threshold requirement for establishing an equal protection violation "is a showing that the state has adopted a classification that affects two or more *similarly situated* groups in an unequal manner." (*People v. Guzman* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 577, 591–592, citation omitted, italics in the original.) If so, then the defendant must demonstrate that there is no rational basis for the disparate treatment. (*Johnson v. Department of Justice* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 871, 881.)

The *Burgos* majority did not reach the equal protection issue. The dissent found no equal protection violation for two reasons: it disagreed that defendants who have already been tried and convicted of the enhancement at trial are similarly situated to defendants who have yet to be tried and identified the preservation of judicial resources as a rational basis for distinguishing between the two groups. (*Burgos, supra,* 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 574–575 (dis. opn of Elia, J.).) The dissent reasoned that the groups were differently situated because those convicted had their risk of prejudice managed by jury instructions as opposed to bifurcation. (*Burgos, supra,* 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 575 (dis. opn of Elia, J.).)

As will discussed in greater detail in section V, *D*, *post*, and incorporated here, studies confirm that jurors exposed to gang evidence are ignoring the reasonable doubt jury instruction, which does not properly manage prejudice. Even assuming jury instructions effectively managed prejudice, a different prejudice management system does not alter the group's similarity of situation, which is essential to the equal protection claim. From the inception of a complaint being filed with a gang enhancement, all defendants are similar: they will go through the pretrial and plea-bargaining process with the prospect of the gang enhancement held over them and the knowledge of how prejudicial the introduction of gang evidence can be to their case.

44

The *Burgos* dissent ascribes preserving resources to the Legislature as its rational reason for treating these similarly situated groups differently. But the legislative history suggests that saving money was not a legislative purpose. The Legislature was aware that courts routinely rely on "cost savings" as a rationale to deny bifurcation requests. The Assembly Committee report noted this Court's previous case rationalizing denial of bifurcation requests on the need to preserve judicial resources, impliedly disapproving such justification:

Even when the gang evidence is prejudicial, other factors favor joinder resulting in a denial of the request for bifurcation: "Trial of the counts together ordinarily avoids increase in the expenditure of funds and judicial resources which may result if the charges were tried in two or more separate trials." (*People v. Hernandez, supra,* 33 Cal. 4th 150, citing *Frank v. Superior Court* (1989) 48 Cal. 3d 632, 639.)

This bill would require bifurcation of gang-related prosecutions from prosecutions that are not gang-related.

(Assem. Comm. on Public Safety, Rep. on A.B. No. 333, *supra*, p. 6; see also Sen. Comm. on Public Safety, Rep. on A.B. No. 333, *supra*, p. 9.) Because the Legislature was critical of using resource guarding as a rationale to deny bifurcation requests, cost-savings should not be relied upon as a "rational reason" to differentiate between individuals who have been convicted and those who have not. Principles of equal protection compel a retroactive application of the statute.

III. Respondent's Prejudice Argument Exceeds the Scope of this Court's Grant of Review.

Respondent sought review in this Court on two issues: (1) whether section 1109 is retroactive, and (2) whether the Court of Appeal "unsettled the jurisprudence of harmless error analysis and assumed the jury violated the instructions," or "whether any error was prejudicial in light of the instruction limiting the use of gang evidence." (Respondent's Pet. for Review, pp. 6, 16.) After granting review and deferring further action pending *People v*. *Tran*, S165998, this Court ordered briefing "*limited* to" the question of retroactivity. (Supreme Ct. Mins. of July 13, 2022, and Oct. 12, 2022, italics added.) This Court should not consider respondent's prejudice argument because it exceeds the scope of this Court's limited review.

IV. The People's Argument — that Any Failure to Bifurcate Was Not Prejudicial Because the Evidence Would Have Been Admitted Under Alternative Grounds — Is Forfeited for Failure to Adequately Raise it in the Petition for Review; Alternatively, it Is Inadmissible.

Respondent's petition for review argued that the *Burgos* majority's prejudice analysis gave insufficient weight to prior case law suggesting that limiting instructions have a prophylactic effect and jurors are presumed to follow instructions. (Pet. for Review, pp. 16–18.) Respondent's petition for review did not argue the evidence would have been admitted anyway under separate evidentiary grounds. Respondent has forfeited any argument relating to evidence being admitted anyway at a bifurcated trial because it was not properly raised in its petition for review. (See *People v. Ramirez* (2022) 14 Cal.5th 176, 193, fn. 7.)

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